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UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,

Pl ai ntiff-Appellee,

VERSUS

JAMES STEPHEN JONES,

Def endant - Appel | ant.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court
for the Western District of Texas

April 13, 1999

Bef ore GARWOOD, DAVI S, and DeMOSS, Circuit Judges.
PER CURI AM

Janes St ephen Jones (“Jones”), a federal prisoner, appeals the
denial of his pro se 28 US C 8§ 2255 nmotion, in which he
chal l enges his conviction for using and carrying a firearm in
relation to the commssion of a drug trafficking crine, in
violation of 18 U S.C. 8§ 924(c)(1). Jones, who pleaded guilty to
this crime, contends that there is an insufficient factual basis
for his 8 924(c)(1) conviction in light of the Suprenme Court’s

intervening decision in Bailey v. United States, 516 U S. 137



(1995) .

l.

In 1991, Jones was under investigation on suspicion that he
was operati ng a net hanphetam ne | aboratory fromhi s Wnnebago not or
home. On April 3, 1991, federal agents fromthe Drug Enforcenent
Agency were conducting surveillance on Jones’ W nnebago, whi ch was
parked on a rural |ot near Bellnead, Texas. While watching that
| ocation the agents observed Jones | eaving the rural | ot in another
vehicle occupied by Daniel Ray Meier (“Meier”), who was |ater
indicted with Jones as a codefendant. The federal agents then
st opped Jones’ vehicle at a highway intersection, and soon noti ced
that Jones and Meier snelled of chemcals used to manufacture
met hanphet am ne. A subsequent search of the car reveal ed severa
rounds of ammunition for a .223 Ruger rifle.

Wi | e federal agents detained Jones and Meier, other federal
agents executed a search warrant on Jones’ Wnnebago and a snall
trailer parked at the sane location. The search of the W nnebago
produced a . 223 Ruger rifle, a .357 revol ver, various chem cal s and
chem cal recipes, and other paraphernalia used to manufacture
met hanphet am ne. The search of the small trailer revealed a fully
constructed nethanphetam ne | aboratory, i ncluding nunerous
chem cal s needed for the manufacture of nethanphetam ne. A later

search of Jones’ residence in Waco, Texas, uncovered several

2



chem cal books and recipes. Also, a Wnchester rifle, a .25
cali ber pistol, and .22 grans of nethanphetam ne were recovered
from Jones’ bedroom

After the governnent presented those facts at Jones’ quilty
pl ea hearing, the district court accepted Jones’ plea to using and
carrying a firearm in violation of 18 U S.C. 8§ 924(c).! The
district court subsequently sentenced Jones to 200 nonths
i nprisonnment, with a consecutive sentence of 60 nonths for the
8 924(c) violation. On April 12, 1993, this Court denied Jones’
direct appeal in an unpublished opinion. United States v. Jones,
No. 91-8630 (5th Cr. Mar. 18, 1993). On Decenber 16, 1996, Jones
filed a notion to vacate, set aside, or correct sentence pursuant
to 28 U.S.C. 8 2255, challenging his firearmconviction. On Apri
8, 1997, the district court deni ed Jones’ habeas corpus petition on
the grounds that (1) his petition was tine-barred, (2) his petition
was procedurally defaulted, and (3) there was sufficient evidence
supporting Jones’ qguilty plea for using and carrying a firearm
during and in relation to a drug trafficking crine. After the
district court denied Jones’ notion for a certificate of

appeal ability, he noved this Court for a certificate, which we

. Jones al so pleaded guilty to possession of a firearm by
a felonin violation of 18 U . S.C. 8§ 922(g); aiding and abetting in
the attenpted manufacture of between 100 and 1000 granms of
met hanphetam ne in violation of 21 U.S.C. 8§ 841(a)(1) and 18 U.S. C.
8§ 2; and constructive possession of a stolen firearmin violation
of 18 U.S.C. 8§ 922(j).



gr ant ed.

1.

We review the district court’s denial of Jones’ § 2255 notion
under two standards. The district court’s factual finding that
there is an adequate basis for the plea is reviewed for clear
error. United States v. Rivas, 85 F.3d 193, 194 (5th Gr.), cert.
denied, 117 S. C. 593 (1996). W review the district court’s
concl usi ons of | aw de novo. United States v. Faubion, 19 F.3d 226,

228 (5th Gir. 1994).

L1l

I n denyi ng Jones’ habeas corpus petition, the district court
found that Jones’ petition was tine-barred by recent anendnents to
§ 2255, enacted as part of the Antiterrorism and Effective Death
Penalty Act of 1996, which established a one-year |imtations
period for 8 2255 notions. See 28 U . S.C. § 2255. The district
court’s conclusion is incorrect given the facts of this case.

Al t hough 8§ 2255 does contain a one-year tinme limt for filing
a 8 2255 notion, we have consistently held that when a defendant’s
convi ction becane final before the enact nent of AEDPA, the one-year
limtations period begins torun fromApril 24, 1996, the effective

date of AEDPA. United States v. Flores, 135 F. 3d 1000, 1006 (5th

Cr. 1998), cert. denied, 119 S. C. 846 (1999). In this case,



Jones was convicted in 1991, well before AEDPA's effective date.
Thus, under our stated rule Jones had until April 24, 1997, to file
his § 2255 notion. Because Jones filed the notion on Decenber 16,
1996, he did not exceed the one-year limtations period. The
district court’s finding that his petition is tine-barred is

m st aken.

| V.
On appeal, Jones argues that his guilty plea nust be vacated

because there is insufficient evidence in light of Bailey that he

“used or carried” a firearm In Bailey, the Suprenme Court held

1]

that a person cannot be convicted of “use” under 8§ 924(c)(1l) for
merely possessing a firearm the person nust actively enploy the
firearm Bail ey, 516 U. S. at 144. The district court rejected
Jones’ argunent, finding that it was procedurally barred because
Jones never raised it on direct appeal.

It is well settled that when a habeas petitioner has
procedurally defaulted a challenge to his guilty plea by failingto
raise it on direct appeal, the claim nmay be raised in a 8§ 2255
motion only if the petitioner can first denonstrate (1) cause and

prejudice, or (2) that he is “actually innocent” of the crinme for

whi ch he was convicted. See Bousley v. United States, 118 S. O
1604 (1998); United States v. Torres, 163 F.3d 909, 911 (5th G

1999). After the Suprene Court’s decision in Bousley, however,



Jones cannot rely on a cause and prejudice argunent to escape
procedural default. See United States v. Sanders, 157 F.3d 302,
305 (5th Gr. 1998). Thus, he nust establish actual innocence in
order to secure relief.

Actual i1innocence neans “factual innocence, and not nere | egal
i nsufficiency.” Bousley, 118 S. C. at 1611. To prove actua
i nnocence, the petitioner “nmust denonstrate that, in light of al
the evidence, it is nore likely than not that no reasonable juror
woul d have convicted him” 1d. (citations and quotations omtted).
Significantly, the governnent “is not limted to the existing
record to rebut any showi ng that petitioner m ght nmake.” [|d. at
1611-12. The governnment is allowed “to present any adm ssible
evidence of petitioner’s guilt even if that evidence was not
presented during the petitioner’s plea colloquy and would not
normal Iy have been of fered before our decision in Bailey.” 1d. at
1612.

Jones argues on appeal that he is actually innocent of both
using and carrying a firearm during and in relation to a drug
trafficking crinme. |In pressing that clai mJones contends that the

governnment presented no evidence at the plea colloquy that

establishes “use” under Bailey, or “carry” under Miscarello v.

United States, 524 U S. 125 (1998). He underscores the fact that

he was stopped and arrested several mles from the nearest

recovered firearm



To rebut Jones’ claim of actual innocence, the governnent
refers to facts that were not presented at the plea colloquy;
specifically, testinony presented at the Jones’ prelimnary hearing
and sentencing hearing, and facts contained in Jones’ presentence
report. According to the governnent, that additional evidence
denonstrates that Jones owned the Wnnebago; that Jones used the
W nnebago to conduct a nobil e net hanphet am ne operation; and that
on April 2, 1991 -- one day before Jones’ arrest -- Jones travel ed
one mle east in the Wnnebago. The governnent asserts that from
this circunstantial evidence it could reasonably be inferred that
Jones carried the two firearns recovered fromthe Wnnebago during
and in relation to a drug trafficking crine.

Havi ng reviewed the transcript of the plea colloquy, we find
no evidence that Jones actively “used” any of the four recovered
firearnms in a manner consistent with Bailey. Simlarly, |ooking
solely at the transcript of the plea colloquy, we find scant
evi dence that Jones carried the two firearns recovered from his
bedroom or that he carried the two firearns recovered from the
W nnebago. W note, however, that the district court deni ed Jones’
§ 2255 notion w thout considering Jones’ claimof actual innocence,
and wi thout considering the additional evidence relied on by the
governnent in this appeal. Thus, in accordance wth the dictates
of Bousl ey, we vacate the district court’s denial of Jones’ § 2255

motion, and remand this action to the district court for an



evidentiary hearing where Jones and the governnent nay present al

rel evant evidence on the issue of Jones’ actual innocence.



